



Financial Risk Management: Practice and Governance in the COVID-19 Crisis

A White Paper

AUGUST 13, 2020

This paper reflects the contributions of Promontory staff including Managing Directors Ron Cathcart, William Lang, and C. Erik Larson; Directors Margaret Cheever, Paul Huck, Aaron Johnson, Nicholas Kiritz, Viktor Tsyrennikov, and Katheryn Van der Celen; and several other staff.



Table of Contents

1.	. Introduction			
2.	Assess, Adapt, and Improve Risk Measurement			6
	2.1	Qualitative Estimates		6
		2.1.1	Example 1: Mortgage Repurchase Losses	7
		2.1.2	Example 2: Mortgage Credit Losses	8
	2.2	Additi	onal Examples of Qualitative Adjustments and Estimates	10
		2.2.1	Credit risk management	10
		2.2.2	Market risk management	10
		2.2.3	Liquidity risk management	10
	2.3	Stress	s Testing	11
		2.3.1	Scenario Design Practice	12
		2.3.2	Unique Aspects of Market Risk and Liquidity Scenarios	13
		2.3.3	Scenarios for the COVID-19 World	14
		2.3.4	Plausibility	15
		2.3.5	Severity	16
		2.3.6	Qualitative Judgment	17
		2.3.7	Reverse Stress Testing	17
		2.3.8	Epidemiological Modeling	17
		2.3.9	Comprehensiveness	17
		2.3.10	Stress Testing as Active Risk Management Tool	18
3.	Affirm Governance Structures, Documentation, and Reporting			
	3.1	Gover	nance Structures	18
		3.1.1	Reaffirm roles, responsibilities, and communication channels	18
		3.1.2	Assess crisis practices against intended and expected governance	19
		3.1.3	Policies and Procedures	19
	3.2	Docur	nentation	20
	3.3	Repor	rting	21
4.	Conclusion			22
	Notes and Sources			23
	Contact Us			



About Promontory

Promontory is a leading provider of strategic planning, risk management, governance, regulatory compliance, and operational transformation services to the financial services industry. Founded in 2001 by Chief Executive Officer Eugene A. Ludwig — a former U.S. comptroller of the currency and vice chairman of Bankers Trust/Deutsche Bank — Promontory was acquired by IBM in 2016. We operate today as an independent IBM subsidiary, with offices across North America, Europe, Asia, and Australia.

Promontory's clients include the largest 50 financial institutions globally, the largest 50 financial institutions in the U.S., the top 10 banks and largest insurers in Europe, the four largest financial institutions in Australia, the three largest financial institutions in Japan, and the largest financial institution in China. They also include the largest central banks and regulatory agencies in the U.S, Europe, Canada, Japan, U.K., and Australia.

Our unique domain expertise, combined with IBM's world-class technology and business transformation capabilities allow us to resolve challenging national and cross-border issues in banking, insurance, securities, commodities, financial instruments, and capital markets. Promontory professionals bring to bear their broad and deep experience gained from decades of leadership at Fortune 100 corporations and regulatory authorities. Our ability to combine the expertise of former senior financial services executives and regulatory officials — including from several agencies that regulate benchmarking participants — sets us apart from other consulting firms.



801 17th Street, NW, Suite 1100, Washington, DC 20006 +1 202 869 9500 promontory.com Copyright © 2020 Promontory Financial Group, an IBM Company. All Rights Reserved.

1. Introduction

While every crisis has a unique set of drivers, the COVID-19 pandemic is forcing firms to face challenges in an extraordinarily unfamiliar environment. The present situation took months to unfold, but it nonetheless surprised businesses and governments around the world. The U.S. and other western economies have seen a profound and rapid decline in general economic activity, with U.S. gross domestic product (GDP) dropping at nearly a 33% annual rate during the second quarter and the unemployment rate soaring to 14.7% in April 2020 — a level not seen since the Great Depression.¹

Some businesses undoubtedly have seen growth opportunities, with select technology and large-cap stocks bouncing back from late March 2020 lows and, in some cases, returning to levels near or above pre-pandemic highs. It remains to be seen whether the reopening of the real economy will continue at a pace as strongly as the stock market implies, and if so, whether business in the hospitality, restaurant, hotel, transportation, sports, and entertainment sectors will return to anything near their pre-pandemic activity.

In general, we expect that there will be real and lasting impacts from the pandemic — even if a vaccine or effective treatment is developed. The displacement has been so significant that some businesses and individuals will not recover. As a result, we expect that most banks will sustain substantial losses from the decline in economic activity and rise in unemployment. The peak in credit-related stress may not be reached before the third or fourth quarter 2020 when we also expect retail and wholesale defaults to rise. The total level of bank losses could rise even further if there are additional waves of the pandemic. Though banks around the globe were generally well-capitalized before the crisis, we think they will be forced to tap into their capital and / or liquidity buffers, potentially at higher rates if the severity of the crisis deepens or continues beyond current expectations.

Globally, bank supervisors and regulators have indicated that now is the time for banks to support their clients, and they have suggested that banks should make prudent use of the liquidity and capital buffers they built up following the Great Recession. Recently, U.S. supervisors indicated specific actions and processes that banks should be prepared to take to maintain prudent levels of liquidity and capital. On June 23, federal and state banking agencies issued examiner guidance to promote consistency and flexibility in the examination of financial institutions, considering the ongoing impact of COVID-19.² On June 25, the Federal Reserve released the results of the Dodd-Frank Act Stress Tests for 33 banking institutions along with an aggregated capital stress analysis for different pandemic-related scenarios.³ The pandemic stress analysis indicated that a quarter of banking institutions would be near or below capital minimums under the most severe scenario, defined as a W-shaped recovery. As a result, the Federal Reserve is requiring banks to resubmit capital plans in the third quarter of 2020, with the instruction that the new plans should more fully reflect COVID-19 crisis stresses. Additionally, the Federal Reserve suspended share buybacks and capped third-quarter dividends at the higher of either second-quarter dividends or the average quarterly income for the previous four quarters.

It is our view that in the not-too-distant future, supervisory assessments will increasingly focus on whether bank management took action during the crisis that reflected strong risk management and governance approaches, and that considered the crisis's impact on the firm's business actions, risk appetite, and strategy. Supervisors are likely to focus on capital, loss provisioning, and liquidity processes — specifically on the quantitative and qualitative aspects of provisioning for the allowance for credit losses (ACLL) or the allowance for loan and lease losses (ALLL), stress testing results, and measures of capital and liquidity adequacy. These estimates are crucial to strategic and risk decisions about the future growth and risk profile of banking organizations.

To get a sense of the scale of these issues, it is instructive to review first-quarter 2020 ACL provisions reported by U.S. banks. The provisions reflect the early response to the COVID-19 pandemic with large-scale closures of non-essential businesses and other disruptions only beginning in March 2020. Excluding the impact of moving toward provisioning based on current expected credit losses (CECL), first-quarter earnings reports from the four largest banks — JPMorgan Chase, Bank of America,



The COVID-19 pandemic has produced a similar effect outside the U.S. The U.K.'s largest bank by assets, HSBC, reported first-quarter expected credit losses (ECL) soared to \$3.0 billion, a five-fold jump from the \$600 million a year earlier. During the second quarter, the figure increased even further, rising to \$3.8 billion compared with \$500 million in 2019. The bank attributed both spikes to COVID-19.⁷ BNP Paribas, the Eurozone's largest bank by assets, reported that the cost of risk (a metric reflecting provisions for ECL) soared 85% in the first quarter⁸ and 133% in the second quarter⁹ from a year before due to the pandemic and worsening economic conditions. Likewise, Credit Agricole Group reported first- and second-quarter cost-of risk growth of 176%¹⁰ and 135%,¹¹ respectively.

Given the extraordinarily steep decline in economic activity, as well as the unique circumstances generating the shock to the economy, it's our view that expert judgment will have an unusually large role in models affecting bank financials, business decisions, and risk assessments. It will be critical for organizations to have well-governed processes for generating financial estimates to properly manage risk, make sound strategic decisions, and maintain the confidence of investors and regulators. In this paper, Promontory outlines three particularly important actions that financial institutions should take when considering their current and future financial risk management activities:

- Assess and qualitatively address the limitations of existing financial risk measures using expert judgment and tools such as sensitivity analysis and benchmarking
- Develop stress tests and scenarios that are relevant and reflect the crisis
- Ensure a robust governance approach adequate to address the unique challenges of the current crisis, including a clear analysis of the sensitivity of estimates to key assumptions

2. Assess, Adapt, and Improve Risk Measurement

Most financial institutions we talk to have established systems of quantitative models for provisioning, stress testing, and liquidity and capital analysis. These models would have been validated as fit for purpose given the facts and data at the time of the models' development. However, the pandemic's global economic consequences are profound and unlike any experience embedded in current models we've seen. More specifically, we believe many models are likely to not work as expected for at least two reasons. First, the drivers of the current economic stress are very different from those previously observed in magnitude, timing, duration, and sectoral impact. Second, quantitative models of risk that link drivers and outcomes calibrated to past experience are not likely to forecast outcomes properly when applied to current, COVID-driven macroeconomic scenarios, as some macroeconomic drivers are moving in ways not observed in the last recession. For example, stock market values haven't followed a similar trajectory.

Despite these limitations of current models and historical data, financial institutions still need to generate estimates of the crisis's impact on business outcomes for internal and external reporting purposes. In addition, firms should generate a range of outcomes using scenario analysis in order to take actions and effectively manage risk during the crisis.

2.1 Qualitative Estimates

Many firms we talk to, especially those firms subject to stress-testing requirements, have developed a standard process for estimating risk outcomes when quantitative models are unavailable or unreliable. These firms develop qualitative estimates with a transparent thought process for factors that drive outcomes, explicit assumptions with sensitivity analysis, and empirical analysis



of available data and benchmarks — all of which include an important element of expert judgment. Sound practice for qualitative estimates of risk outcomes follows these principles, but we see the particular form vary, often including the following types:

- **Model adjustments:** The model limitation is addressed within the modeling framework by judgmentally adjusting a model parameter or assumption
- **Model overlays:** The model output is used as the starting point in that the model limitation is addressed by judgmentally adjusting a model output. Model overlays are useful for addressing known model limitations in cases where the impact of the limitation can be quantified
- Qualitative approach or estimate: The approach steps away from the quantitative model and judgmentally develops an estimate of risk outcome using the disciplined approach noted in this section

We believe that financial institutions' model governance practices should adapt to the higher levels of model risk presented by the current crisis. To this end, they should take a systematic approach to assessing the reliability of models, using a blend of expert judgment and qualitative and quantitative analysis. This assessment should inform where qualitative estimates should be used to supplement model results and should include the following considerations and tools:

Assess materiality: Firms should identify models that are important for the risk outcomes most impacted by the crisis. For example, models assessing consumer lending outcomes for credit loss and provisioning are material for many firms, as we've seen loan portfolios are under pressure from rapidly rising unemployment rates. On the other hand, market risk models may be less important to assess as the financial markets continue to function, albeit with heightened volatility.

Sensitivity analysis: For important models, firms should undertake sensitivity analysis around parameter calibrations or modeling assumptions that may be problematic given recent events. This analysis should include assumptions about customer behavior as well as the impact of government actions. For example, sensitivity analysis is useful for sizing the potential effects of government-encouraged forbearance actions in the mortgage market.

Benchmarking: Firms should identify models that are sensitive to critical macroeconomic drivers (e.g., the unemployment rate) and assess which drivers are behaving differently than in the past. Although different, comparison to the 2008 financial crisis is still instructive in terms of ranking outcomes. Is the estimate for the current case expected to be better or worse than what we experienced in the last crisis?

Assess ongoing monitoring results: Firms should evaluate the information provided by assessing ongoing monitoring and early-warning triggers. For instance, what models are not tracking with data from the early stages of the crisis?

Evaluate customer feedback and industry intelligence: Firms should assess business intelligence for indications that model estimates are inconsistent with actual outcomes.

Importantly, firms should ensure strong data collection and analysis as early as possible to monitor developments, enhance qualitative estimations, and develop more quantitative or predictive approaches over time.

We provide several illustrative examples for how qualitative estimates can be constructed. The first example is historical and describes qualitative estimates of mortgage repurchase losses following the financial crisis as large banks and the Federal Reserve conducted the early rounds of stress tests under the Comprehensive Capital Analysis and Review (CCAR). The second example is taken from the current crisis and addresses the calculation of potential losses for a mortgage loan portfolio.

2.1.1 EXAMPLE 1: MORTGAGE REPURCHASE LOSSES

As mortgage defaults mounted during the 2008 financial crisis, it became clear that large numbers of mortgages that were originated and sold for securitization had fraudulent or faulty documentation in which the creditworthiness of the borrower or appraised value of the property were misrepresented.¹² Contractually, the buyer of a misrepresented mortgage can force the originator to repurchase the loan. If the mortgage is performing, there is little incentive for the buyer to force the originator to repurchase the mortgage. However, if the mortgage is in default, the buyer can avoid the default credit loss by forcing the

originator to repurchase the loan and absorb the credit loss. Accordingly, as defaults mounted, so rose the threat of forced repurchases for originators. In addition to forced repurchases, originators were also subject to losses from investor lawsuits, which follow a similar logic.

As part of CCAR stress testing, banks had to estimate repurchase and investor lawsuit losses under stress scenarios. At the time of initial supervisory stress testing, the potential for these losses was known, but the repurchase and legal drama was just beginning to play out. There was no firm historical data available to ground statistical loss estimates. Therefore, an approach that combined statistical modeling and qualitative estimates was the only feasible approach for estimating stress losses.

The qualitative estimates involved two steps as follows:

Banks estimated credit losses for the sold loans using existing statistical models that projected future losses over the remaining lifetime of the loans using risk characteristics of the sold loans. This step provided the loss for a loan if in fact it would be repurchased or subject to lawsuit losses.

Banks then used a qualitative or expert judgment approach to project how much of this credit loss would be ultimately put back to the origination bank (whether through contractual repurchase, a settlement agreement, or litigation loss) under stress conditions. Again, in the early rounds of CCAR, there was little relevant historical data and losses realized to that point were small. This step required banks to assemble expert opinions, including from legal staff, on the repurchase and settlement rate for each type of investor class under a stress scenario. The repurchase and settlement rate by loan type was then combined with the modeled losses from step one to calculate stress losses. Sound industry practice includes sensitivity analysis around the judgmental estimates to illustrate the impact of varying estimates. Finally, bank management reviewed the distribution of responses to determine an appropriately conservative estimate for stressed repurchase losses.

2.1.2 EXAMPLE 2: MORTGAGE CREDIT LOSSES

Banks must comply with the Coronavirus Aid, Relief, and Economic Security Act (CARES Act), signed into law on March 27, 2020, that mandates that federally backed mortgage loans follow a consistent payment suspension program.¹³ This program allows for customers to suspend payments for up to six months, with the possibility of a further suspension of six months, if they continue to be economically impacted by COVID-19. During the forbearance period, banks will not charge late fees and will not report customers as delinquent to the credit reporting agencies. At the end of the forbearance period, banks are expected to work with customers to determine which customers will have payments deferred for some period of time and which customers will require loan modifications such as adding the suspended payments into the loan and extending the loan term.

We have already discussed why statistical models developed with historical data will not properly capture the impact of macroeconomic drivers on credit losses for this crisis. This lack of comparable historical data is compounded by the specific features of the current forbearance programs. Consequently, banks will need to develop qualitative estimates of mortgage credit losses for ACL and stress testing.

We believe this problem can be thought of as a sequence of proportions determined by data and judgmental assumptions as follows:

Banks can use their customer and risk data systems to capture the current proportion of customers who have asked for mortgage forbearance. The data should include available loan information, such as balance, and relevant borrower characteristics, such as credit scores.

2

Credit losses depend on what happens after the forbearance period ends. The next step is to develop judgmental assumptions for the proportion of customers who will recover and make payments after the forbearance period, the proportion who will have payments deferred, the proportion who will require loan modifications, and the proportion who will go into default. These assumptions will need to extend the length of the estimation horizon, as they will vary over time.

Banks should use all feasible internal and external data to empirically support the judgmental assumptions and the segmentation of the qualitative estimates. For mortgage obligors who also have deposit and savings accounts, banks have internal data from deposit and savings account balances that is predictive of behavior. For example, obligors with stable account balances are probably in better economic shape than obligors with declining balances. External data such as bankruptcy reporting may be used to empirically inform the judgmental assumptions and estimates, but banks will need to evaluate the current bankruptcy behavior versus what has been observed in the past.

4

Sound industry practice includes sensitivity analysis around the judgmental estimates to illustrate the impact of varying estimates. Bank management should review the qualitative estimates and sensitivity analysis to determine an appropriate estimate for the purpose at hand.

Finally, banks should monitor their data on an almost real-time basis to capture changes in customer behavior and make frequent updates to qualitative estimates as they learn more about COVID-19's impact on customer behavior.

2.2 Additional Examples of Qualitative Adjustments and Estimates

2.2.1 CREDIT RISK MANAGEMENT

Sector-specific credit shocks: Within a particular loan portfolio, the COVID-19 impact may differ across sectors in ways that are not adequately reflected in model output. For example, firms may find that some commercial industry sectors (e.g., the technology sector) are performing reasonably well. However, we have seen that the travel and hospitality sector has been hit especially hard by the crisis.¹⁴ Firms can improve the quality of portfolio loss estimates by developing sector-specific qualitative estimates for sectoral impacts that models don't properly capture.

Credit-mitigating programs: Firms may need to develop qualitative estimates to account for the effect of government programs on credit metrics. For example, the U.S. Small Business Administration is guaranteeing loans made by financial institutions to small businesses through the Paycheck Protection Program (PPP). New government guarantee programs require firms to develop qualitative estimates in place of model results.

2.2.2 MARKET RISK MANAGEMENT

Hard-to-value assets: The use of judgment is common when measuring market risk exposures of level 3 assets, the values of which depend on unobservable inputs. For example, a valuation multiple for a private equity investment is an unobservable input. Banks around the world hold substantial amounts of hard-to-value level 3 assets. For some large banks, the value of such assets exceeds 50% of their capital.¹⁵

The pandemic has made the valuation of level 3 assets more challenging. Mark-to-model approaches have to be adjusted to account for the current pandemic environment. For example, commercial property is typically valued using the discounted cash flow method. The latter requires a bank making assumptions about the timing of business reopening, occupancy, rent levels, and discounting, among other factors. Using expert judgment is unavoidable, but it has to be well reasoned and documented. This forces a discussion about potential risk drivers and should allow banks to understand their exposures better and respond to economic events more rapidly.

2.2.3 LIQUIDITY RISK MANAGEMENT

Business strategy changes: Treasurers will need to work closely with business partners to understand how changes to business strategies — deployment of government programs and lending collections — impact projected cash flows. For example, judgment will be required to estimate the timing and volume of loan disbursements, fundamental shifts in sales and repayment rate dynamics, and outcomes of collections initiatives.

Customer deposit behavior: Similarly, qualitative estimations will be important in modeling customer deposit behavior given the unprecedented circumstances driving the availability and need for cash for companies and individuals. For example, deposit modeling will require assumptions to be made regarding how customers are accessing government programs and how to account for the likely temporary nature of any associated deposits, which may have previously been modeled as core and stable.

Customer borrowing behavior: Similarly, customer deposit behavior will also be impacted and will require close monitoring and qualitative estimation. For example, cash-flow modeling will require assumptions regarding how customer demands for cash will translate into higher draws on credit lines — including the duration until payback — as well as the extent to which customer discretionary spending reductions impact lending levels.

Asset values: Firms may need to develop qualitative approaches to estimating effects on asset values that may warrant changes to the haircuts modelled for liquidity-planning purposes.



2.3 Stress Testing

Stress testing became part of the standard risk management toolkit of regulators and financial institutions after the 2008 financial crisis. Regulators implemented capital and liquidity stress tests to restore the public's confidence in the financial system and promote financial stability. In the U.S., these tests demonstrated that financial institutions were able to withstand even severe economic conditions.^{16,17} In addition, supervisors introduced a requirement for banks to have robust, repeatable, forward-looking, and flexible stress-testing programs that consider material, unique risks, and that informs decision-making.¹⁸ The mandated internal capital and liquidity stress testing forced financial institutions to consider all sources of risk that could be missed by top-down regulatory stress testing. We saw that internal stress testing further restored confidence in financial systems around the globe and contributed to strengthen banks' risk management capabilities.

An important building block of a stress-testing program is a set of scenarios, with each scenario reflecting the evolution of the key macroeconomic and financial risk factors under an adverse business environment. Scenarios can be historical, reflecting previously realized stresses, or hypothetical, with specification informed by expert judgment or modeling. Historical scenarios are "adaptations" of past stressful events, such as the 2008 crisis, to current economic conditions. While the historical scenarios help banks not repeat past mistakes, the hypothetical scenarios allow them to prepare for the unknown. U.S. regulators have incorporated these scenarios into their annual capital adequacy stress tests.^{19,20} Additionally, institutions use reverse stress testing to understand scenarios that breach regulatory ratios or that lead to insolvency or illiquidity. The aim of reverse stress testing is to identify potential new vulnerabilities, which is especially important during a pandemic.

The scenario severity is measured relative to a baseline scenario, which, in our view, is straightforward to design in normal times but challenging during a pandemic-triggered crisis. Thus, in the current environment, firms must stress test an already stressed environment, one which has the potential to evolve into the most severe crisis experienced in generations.

Plausibility and severity are key characteristics of a scenario. A plausible scenario relies on observed or theoretical relationships between risk factors and economic outcomes, like revenues, profits/losses, and available capital. Severity is related to plausibility: The more severe a scenario is, the less plausible it is. However, an implausible scenario may not be severe. For example, a scenario assuming an unusual correlation between sectors may be implausible but not severe. This distinction is important in a pandemic environment when the expected relationships are broken; what is plausible needs to be redefined and explored through experimentation.

Banks and regulators now have more than a decade of experience building and using robust stress testing frameworks, including the use of custom scenarios. For example, in the U.S., banks subject to the capital stress-testing regime must develop models or other approaches to forecast or estimate balances, losses, and available capital over the stress horizon. A numerical output of the exercise is a set of capital ratios demonstrating a bank's ability to survive and continue to lend in severely adverse economic environments. Banks can leverage this stress testing infrastructure in today's challenging environment and turn it into a strategic instrument.

2.3.1 SCENARIO DESIGN PRACTICE

Institutions we have worked with have typically implemented the following scenario design practices:

Institution-specific scenario design: The number and sophistication of the scenarios must be tailored to bank size and complexity. Under the Dodd-Frank Act (DFA) and Capital Plan Rule,²¹ large bank holding companies are required to develop at least one stress scenario tailored to the unique characteristics of the bank holding company, while the largest and most complex institutions must develop multiple scenarios. The DFA and Federal Reserve's enhanced prudential standards²² require institutions to maintain at least three liquidity stress scenarios, while large and complex institutions must have more. The regulators also expect banks to develop additional scenarios if financial conditions or risk profiles deteriorate — as is the case with this pandemic.

Large banking organizations we talk to have considerable experience in identifying the risks that are most salient in terms of their specific exposures, risk appetite, geographic footprint, operational controls, and other important considerations. Banks should use the existing risk identification, scenario design, and modeling processes to understand how the pandemic could affect their institution. These banks already know their exposures to specific parts of the economy (auto, personal finance, small business, trading, etc.) and their funding sources and can readily assess which parts of their portfolios are most at risk while taking into account governmental support and public response.

Scenario narratives: Institutions need clear narratives linking the bank's specific vulnerabilities, portfolio, and strategies to specific sources of risk. Banks must also involve knowledgeable personnel from the lines of business, treasury, finance, modeling teams, and risk management in scenario development. During the pandemic, it is also important to maintain a clear narrative for the baseline scenario.

Identifying and understanding specific narratives: Why certain events and circumstances can occur and in which combination and order are both critical when building stress scenarios. For example, drivers might include operational mistakes (not following bank policies), regulatory issues (exposure of personally identifiable information), credit losses (an event in the bank's geographic area that results in losses to specific portfolios), and loss of funding (capital market disruption).

Scenario governance and challenge: Even the best scenarios need to be revised or replaced and the pandemic will only increase the need to do so. Two of the Basel Committee on Banking Supervision's (BCBS) stress-testing principles, published in 2018, are important in this regard.²³ First, firms need strong governance for their stress-testing approaches (principle 2). Second, the stress scenarios need to be challenged (principle 8). An effective challenge is essential in a pandemic environment when relying on judgment is prevalent.

2.3.2 UNIQUE ASPECTS OF MARKET RISK AND LIQUIDITY SCENARIOS

MARKET RISK

U.S. banks with gross trading assets of 10 percent or more of total consolidated assets or \$1 billion or more are subject to the market risk rule (MRR), the U.S. implementation of the BCBS's market risk framework, and must perform quantitative "market risk stress testing" at least monthly, with large institutions testing weekly or daily.²⁴ Additionally, institutions with significant market risk exposures must have the ability to adjust scenarios and perform stress testing on an ad-hoc basis to be able to respond to rapidly changing market conditions, like COVID-19.

Under the MRR, banking organizations must perform stress testing of market risk exposures with unique regulatory expectations to scenarios. They must:

- Capture significant non-linearities within relevant covered positions
- Consider the potential need to liquidate positions during periods of reduced market liquidity
- Stress structured products or leveraged positions at the level of the underlying positions or risk factors
- Consider tail dependence between products and product types
- Consider reverse stress testing, i.e., find a combination of factor movements that would result in the greatest market losses

These requirements, in our view, are especially important during the pandemic. Large market-price movements have already led to significant changes in the value of equity derivatives, exposing the inherent non-linearities of institutions' portfolios. The market liquidity of treasury and mortgage-backed securities is also below normal and yields on treasuries have reached historical lows. The observed stressed correlations are at odds with the typical assumption that prices of financial assets move in tandem.

While many sectors have seen great losses, the pandemic has also generated big winners, e.g., technology firms. We have seen that this unusual economic environment has led some institutions to report large market-risk-related losses and violate their value-at-risk (VaR) thresholds more frequently than during 2008's Great Recession. In the first quarter of 2020, Wells Fargo saw its market risk VaR capital charge increase to \$476 million, or 71% above the previous quarter's level.^{25,26} In Europe, BNP Paribas reported that the equity-market movements led to multiple breaches of its VaR thresholds.^{27,28} These developments prompted the European Banking Authority to suggest that the national authorities could adjust the VaR and stressed VAR-based requirements.²⁹

LIQUIDITY

Institutions subject to liquidity stress-testing requirements^{30,31} must conduct stress tests to assess the potential impact of at least three mandated liquidity stress scenarios — adverse market, idiosyncratic, and combined — on their cash flows, liquidity position, profitability, and solvency. Stress tests must take into account the current liquidity condition, risks, exposures, strategies, and activities. Liquidity stress testing must be performed at least monthly or quarterly, depending on the size and complexity of the firm. The largest institutions are expected to perform stress testing daily.

The analysis is performed using a set of complementary hypothetical scenarios that capture multiple liquidity risks and potential stress events. The core set of liquidity scenarios should include the following types:

- Idiosyncratic (bank-specific), systemic (market-wide), and combined
- Moderate and severe



Each liquidity stress test is expected to include at least overnight, 30-day, 90-day, and one-year planning horizons, and any other planning horizons that are relevant to the firm's liquidity risk profile. In addition, each liquidity stress test scenario is expected to clearly identify initial trigger events and distinguish between third-party or management actions that are discretionary versus non-discretionary. For example, the analysis should clearly identify whether actions that generate or control liquidity flows — such as deposit withdrawals, collateral calls, or termination of lending — are statutorily required or if there is a degree of discretion, which requires more detailed analysis and support.

The primary objective of core liquidity stress test scenarios is to provide management with sufficient information to assess whether the firm remains within the board-approved liquidity risk appetite and maintains adequate liquidity to withstand the simultaneous occurrence of multiple low-probability, high-impact stress events.

In our view, firms that have effectively implemented and managed internal liquidity stress tests that meet existing expectations should be better positioned in the current environment. In particular, the existing expectations require banks to incorporate a certain degree of qualitative judgment and conservatism in their stress test to account for limitations in historical data (as an example, the positive impact of public-sector intervention will not be reflected) as well as to ensure liquidity buffers incorporate an assumption that a bank will continue lending in challenging environments. On balance, dynamics within the current environment — which includes customer draws on liquidity but also includes offsets, such as a flight to quality and pullback in economic activity — may result in liquidity impacts that are more moderate than those addressed among the suite of pre-existing, core stress tests most banks employ.

Nevertheless, close monitoring and refreshed cashflow forecasts will be critical to managing day-to-day liquidity demands, including intra-day obligations, and in the mid- to long-term liquidity, stress testing, and contingency planning programs will need to be updated to incorporate learnings from this pandemic event.

In addition, it is becoming increasingly important that financial institutions consider the interplay between capital and liquidity analysis. For example, if a capital analysis yields results that fall below well-capitalized thresholds, the bank should evaluate liquidity implications and develop contingency plans to address the loss of funding sources this fall could trigger (e.g., loss of access to brokered deposits).

2.3.3 SCENARIOS FOR THE COVID-19 WORLD

The post-2008 banking reforms required that most banking organizations over \$10 billion in assets have robust stress-testing and capital and liquidity planning processes, including scenario governance procedures.³² Recent events, such as the prospect of negative interest rates and, more recently, negative prices for oil — have prompted banks we are in conversations with to consider previously unthinkable scenarios.^{33,34} While the principles of scenario design remain the same as before the pandemic, it is our view that it's worthwhile to think about how these principles should be applied in a pandemic world.

The main requirement of a stress scenario is that it represents extreme, but plausible, paths of key macroeconomic and financial variables in the current crisis, along with qualitative responses (or overlays based on expert judgment) describing the impact on bank balance sheets. For example, the unemployment rate scenario could be characterized by its peak level, its transition to that peak level, and the speed of transition back to the long-run "normal." Together, these provide sufficient information to describe a specific path of the unemployment rate that could be plausible or not. However, the severity is not the only dimension along which one could distinguish between the plausible and implausible scenarios. Its uniqueness is another key dimension; a double-dip unemployment scenario could be considered implausible in a typical recession, but not during a pandemic.

Larger banking organizations we talk to have in-house scenario design teams and macroeconomic forecasting capabilities. Smaller organizations are likely to rely on third-party macroeconomic forecasts from vendors. In either case, banking organizations should carefully assess the plausibility and severity of these scenarios, taking into consideration the organization's own geographic footprint, products, services, and client base. A one-size-fits-all severe scenario is not suitable in the conditions created by the pandemic. We believe banks relying on third-party scenarios should assess to what degree the scenarios apply to them and whether a gualitative overlay is needed.

2.3.4 PLAUSIBILITY

The investigation of an economic scenario's plausibility is a thought experiment, informed by examination of the level, trend, volatility, and co-movement of factors driving the potential realization of losses.³⁵ When developing new scenarios, banks often start with a scenario that stresses a small number of factors or modifies an existing scenario in a few dimensions. With a small number of risk drivers to consider, scenario likelihood could be estimated and used as a measure for plausibility. For example, the GDP and S&P 500 index could be used to represent the real and financial side of the economy, while allowing the remaining risk drivers to follow their "expected" paths. It is tempting to use likelihood broadly, but with many risk drivers, the fidelity of the statistical models is low (i.e., the confidence intervals around the proposed scenarios are wide, and plausible scenarios must be defined using expert judgment).

During the latest round of supervisory stress testing released in June 2020, the Federal Reserve considered three alternative severe stress scenarios: V, U, and W-shaped paths of the economy.³⁶ A V-shaped path for the economy, i.e., GDP and unemployment, could be viewed as an optimistic baseline. It is supported by the fact that approximately 90% of unemployment was reported to be temporary.³⁷ A U-shaped scenario could be viewed as a replay of the 2008 crisis, and a W-shaped scenario is supported by the recent spike in the number of COVID-19 cases triggered by early reopening. It is also akin to a hypothetical realization of the double-dip fears from the 2008 recession. These scenarios may remain in the supervisory stress-testing toolkit for some time. They represent a useful starting point for building a firm's own exploration of the plausibility region that could also include an L-shaped scenario in which the economy operates on a lower level for the foreseeable future. Contemplating such scenarios is also necessary to understand the risks to the capital-return plans that the Federal Reserve now ties to recent revenues³⁸.

Experimentation with alternative scenarios could help banks determine the appropriate boundary of plausibility while reducing reliance on expert judgment. Institutions could analyze performance under various combinations of peak unemployment levels and transition speeds. The historical distribution of losses could then be used to draw the plausibility boundary that depends on the firm's risk aversion. Note that implausible scenarios should not be discarded: They could be compared to the economic environment in order to identify emerging risks and severity changes. Additionally, these "for information" scenarios could eventually become the new plausible scenarios if the environment deteriorates further. This approach is similar to the BCBS's long-list vs. short-list approach.³⁹

One of the defining characteristics of the current pandemic that we've seen is that it has affected market participants differently, even benefiting some. To accurately assess their exposures, firms may need to create scenarios that are more detailed than would be sufficient during normal times. To develop more detailed scenarios while maintaining plausibility, it's our view that banks could follow a top-down approach that starts with a targeted national-level scenario, then broken down into regional or sectoral movements using appropriate correlation assumptions. Importantly, the discussed correlation assumptions must be consistent with the considered scenario and the current economic environment. We believe non-stressed risk drivers should be set at their expected levels, conditional on the assumed paths of the stressed variables to maximize scenario plausibility. If GDP and S&P 500 are selected as the only two risk drivers, inflation should follow the most likely path given how GDP drives the real economy.

Plausibility should be conditional on the current economic environment. The figure below shows that the Federal Reserve's initial (SCAP) scenario for the unemployment rate used in 2009 matched closely the then-unknown historical path. The subsequent scenario used in 2013 was less severe because the unemployment rate remained high. In 2018, when the unemployment rate declined below four percent, the increase of the unemployment rate in the Federal Reserve's severely adverse scenario became larger than during the 2008 financial crisis.⁴⁰ That is, the regulator considered progressively more severe scenarios as the economy strengthened. When compared to the current crisis, the Fed's 2018 scenario for unemployment seems mild.





Figure 1. The Evolution of the CCAR Severely Adverse Scenario for the Unemployment Rate⁴¹

Plausibility should be also assessed against relevant historical experience. We think the previous pandemics (1957-58, 1918) and historical instances of widespread natural disasters (Fukushima nuclear disaster, Hurricane Maria in Puerto Rico) could provide useful guidance. Just as with any historical scenario, the pandemic experiences need to be "indexed" to the current day. The ability of some businesses to perform work remotely, as well as lower labor intensity and higher adaptability of production processes, suggest that a pandemic scenario highly uncertain and should prompt banks to consider a range of scenarios and impacts.

Equally as important as assessing plausibility is having a clear business or economics narrative explaining how actions the bank's clients take would translate into losses, or gains, to the bank and a clear explanation of how movements in the scenario variables capture risks. To that end, banks should carefully consider which macroeconomic, regional, and institutional variables are best able to capture risks the bank faces. These may include not only the unemployment rate, GDP, and stock market returns but also the number of loan-modification requests, regional unemployment rates, and other data.

2.3.5 SEVERITY

The severity of a scenario may come in different forms. In our view, scenarios should include the depth, length, and resulting new normal of a pandemic-driven economic downturn. Additionally, banks should consider the shape of any assumed recovery, industry-specific losses, and regional variations (e.g., factors that may increase or decrease severity in the bank's footprint, including population density, use of public transportation, quality of government response, quality of local health resources). Scenarios could also be created to consider variations in how national, regional, and local authorities, including supervisors, respond or provide support.

Large and/or complex banking institutions should consider a range of severities. Banks with concentrated exposures need to consider the scenarios in which, e.g., a pandemic affects disproportionately one geographic market over another as is the case in many countries, e.g., the U.S. Northeast., northern Italy, etc.

According to BCBS, most banks use stress scenarios that evolve over two-to-three years.⁴² This is reasonable given that a typical recession lasts less than a year. The 2008 Great Recession lasted 18 months in the U.S.⁴³ and 15 months in the EU.⁴⁴ This length may seem insufficient for a pandemic scenario. At the same time, in our opinion, economies around the world should be on a path to recovery after three years, and the fact the recovery is not complete may be accounted for with an appropriate overlay. Only the banks using stress periods of less than three years are expected to make such adjustments.

2.3.6 QUALITATIVE JUDGMENT

Recently, the U.K.'s Monetary Policy Committee outlined their own COVID-19 scenario to illustrate "the channels through which the pandemic is likely to affect the economy."⁴⁵ The scenario assumed that the government would start loosening social distancing restrictions in June 2020 until they unwind fully in the third quarter of 2020. The government's fiscal support is expected to follow a similar path. However, the committee does not expect national consumption to recover fully due to residual uncertainty. In the European Central Bank's (ECB) alternative scenarios, output recovers fully only after 2022, even in the mild-severity scenario.^{46,47}

There appear to be only a few historical experiences, e.g., the 1918 Spanish influenza, that could be extrapolated to the current pandemic. Yet, at any given moment, there are other significant events, such as a natural disaster, war, or a virus outbreak, in some corner of the world that could be used as a proxy. For example, the earthquake in Japan in 2011 forced extensive production closures lasting several months and relocation of a large fraction of the population. While this event was fairly recent, we think due to changes in technology, government response, etc. the use of qualitative judgment in designing forward-looking stress scenarios is inevitable and desirable when extrapolating to the 2020 pandemic.

2.3.7 REVERSE STRESS TESTING

When developing a new scenario, banks typically assess a range of potential scenarios with some scenarios deemed to be implausible. Banks could use such scenarios for the purposes of reverse stress testing. For example, banks could ask what combinations of scenario severity, length, and long-term environmental impacts would prompt the bank to use its capital or liquidity buffers, and which would render the bank insolvable or illiquid? To give a more specific example, what fraction of mortgage borrowers need to default to force the bank to deplete its capital buffer?

2.3.8 EPIDEMIOLOGICAL MODELING

The driving force behind the current crisis is a pandemic-driven, exogenous shock, and scenario development should consider potential future paths that the unfolding pandemic may follow. There are many different epidemiological models available to the public.^{48,49,50,51,52,53} These models allow us to forecast the spread of infection over time and space, but their predictive power is mostly unknown. Still, we believe such models could be used to get a sense of the possible duration and intensity of the pandemic scenario, provided that banks understand the limitations of these models.

Pandemic modeling will be more useful, given the uncertainty associated with its predictions, for the design of the baseline scenario. The baseline scenario's severity will set a tone for the stress scenarios.

Since the supervisory guidance on model risk management was issued in 2011,⁵⁴ we have seen that banks have developed robust model risk management programs. Our observations are consistent with the BCBS's statement that "there has been significant advancement and evolution in stress-testing methodologies and infrastructure at both banks and authorities."⁵⁵ We believe this institutional knowledge, and the related policies and procedures, should be followed when it comes to the use of epidemiological models.

2.3.9 COMPREHENSIVENESS

As mentioned previously, the current pandemic has led to catastrophic unemployment,⁵⁶ and we believe the follow-on effects are likely to be widespread and unpredictable. Banks should, therefore, consider scenarios that involve multiple failures or stresses at once. For example, while credit losses surely will rise, remote technology may increase the risk another type of risk — exposing personally identifiable information. Customers may find longer wait times, which could lead to reputational damage. Banks should also consider second- or third-order effects. For example, restaurant closures might directly affect a commercial real estate portfolio, while agricultural firms, with large exposure to restaurants, may be at risk if they cannot pivot and sell to consumers easily. As a starting point, in our view, banks should develop a table of expected impacts for each sector. In doing so, banks

should consider current exposures across all business lines. Which business lines will be hit the hardest and which might benefit? Have recent changes to strategy, clients, or geography resulted in changed exposures that need to be prioritized for review?

2.3.10 STRESS TESTING AS ACTIVE RISK MANAGEMENT TOOL

In our experience, supervisors expect banks to use stress testing not only to fulfill regulatory requirements, but also to inform management decision-making. With respect to capital adequacy, stress testing results may reveal which business lines are riskiest while also providing comfort to business lines where banking activity could continue even in stressful scenarios. Management should focus on most material and vulnerable businesses and the most influential risk factors. In our opinion, net interest income is likely to remain low as the central banks keep interest rates low to support their economies, and credit losses are likely to surge due to the increased unemployment.

With respect to liquidity stress testing, banks should revisit and refresh analysis of contingency funding options, associated pros and cons, and sequence considerations. Management should evaluate the viability or any changed procedures for deploying preexisting contingent sources, consider available public-support programs, and assess strategic implications of the various options. For example, typical asset-side contingent funding levers include reducing credit lines or increasing collections. Evaluation of these levers must consider the new set of the credit business's strategic drivers to address unique customer and systemic needs and associated reputation and long-term business strategy objectives.

To conclude, the ability to perform stress testing in nearly real time is critical during a pandemic. The need to respond quickly generates new priorities for modeling, as the same high-modeling standards are challenging to uphold. Banks are likely to turn to sensitivity analyses that offer insights into the firm's position but, in the medium and longer terms, banks will need to assess their stress testing toolkit and if the current, stressful environment has revealed weaknesses in their stress-testing approaches.

3. Affirm Governance Structures, Documentation, and Reporting

In this unprecedented and dynamic situation, we believe responsible risk managers will have to make rapid, widespread, judgmental modifications to critical financial estimates. At a minimum, banks will need to ensure these changes are internally consistent and are systematically tracked. To accomplish this, they will need a playbook of rules and principles. Our experience working with banks during and after the 2008 crisis suggests firms should resist the temptation to bypass governance. Banks that fail to do so may draw substantial, unwelcome attention from both internal and external stakeholders.

The methods by which critical expert judgments are developed and applied to financial estimates should follow a standardized, structured approach, be documented, and subject to substantive and qualified independent reviews.^{57,58} We believe a crisis is not the time to abandon risk management processes but an opportunity to evaluate risk culture to see if it generates flexible and effective risk management when it counts most. In the fast-paced process of assessing and modifying financial risk assessments in a crisis, we believe it may be more efficient for reviewers to give feedback to the first line on a continuous or ad-hoc basis. Such consultation should be recorded, with particular attention to any resulting changes in approach. Our experience suggests that such records can serve as critical evidence for regulators and auditors seeking to assess governance on an ex-post basis.

3.1 Governance Structures

3.1.1 REAFFIRM ROLES, RESPONSIBILITIES, AND COMMUNICATION CHANNELS

The high degree of uncertainty and dynamic business planning required to address new developments with clients, equity and debt markets, the real economy, and public-sector support programs reinforce the importance of developing strong communication channels between the business, treasury, and risk. To facilitate rapid, controlled decision-making, we recommend firms establish standing forums for clear, consistent, and real-time communication on developments that influence required risk management activities, while maintaining the clear delineation of roles and responsibilities between the three lines of defense. In addition, active and coordinated communications with external stakeholders, such as regulators and rating agencies, regarding the firm's capital and liquidity position and risk management strategies will likely prove key to establishing confidence and evidencing effective governance. Such communication will rely on key activities that are sometimes overlooked such as tracking analytical processes and exercises, and maintaining a central collection of documentation, similar to bank model inventories.

3.1.2 ASSESS CRISIS PRACTICES AGAINST INTENDED AND EXPECTED GOVERNANCE

The goal of process-governance documentation is to promote consistency, transparency, and recordkeeping of processes used and decisions made. Above, we have identified approaches for assessing the limitations of existing financial risk measures, developing qualitative adjustments to those measures and stress tests relevant for the crisis. These steps may serve as the outline for updating existing risk measures or developing new ones. These approaches should be assessed against existing processes with differences likely the result of:

- Introduction of new assessment and development processes
- Necessary streamlining of existing development and review processes and documentation
- Modifications to processes that may have relied on historical relationships or quantitative approaches that no longer seem adequate

Any uncovered gaps should be addressed through clear decision-making focused on streamlining processes to deal with the dynamics of the crisis. Likewise, governance of scenario development, stress testing, and liquidity may require modifications, particularly where frameworks have mandated reliance on historical relationships or quantitative approaches that no longer seem adequate. Institutions should document the resulting process requirements, paying special attention to methods and tactics used to prioritize financial-risk measures for assessment and review. This may require assessment of financial-risk measures that have not assessed for materiality or that need to be assessed in new contexts. Materiality assessments can be a key tool in streamlining processes and both the development of materiality assessments and the differential governance requirements they allow should be as clearly documented as is practical. Such processes and their documentation should align to and directly reference the bank's crisis-management policies.

Firms can demonstrate effective risk management processes by examining how underlying processes and controls operate within the established governance frameworks. For credit, effective risk management will be demonstrated by outcomes of current decision-making. Credit officers need to rely on quantitative tools and models available as a starting point and then apply a level of expert judgment. We think senior management, boards, and regulators will look back on how credit organizations performed during these times — sizing the risk, taking actions, triaging troubled portfolios, assessing and managing the downside, and reporting. These tasks are carried out within the framework of current practices and governance but also serve to identify those areas needing modifications. Ultimately, credit management will need to make decisions, justify their rationale and process, and track the outcomes over time.

3.1.3 POLICIES AND PROCEDURES

Existing policies and procedures may prove too time-consuming and inflexible to support financial risk management needs in the crisis dynamic. However, it is critical that banks not violate current policies and procedures in their response. While exception processes should be used as necessary to prevent violations, excessive reliance on these should be taken as a sign that governance framework documents need to be modified, a view that may be taken by regulators. To prevent this, banks should review their current policies and procedures against their evolving process design and fundamental risk management principles to see where policy or procedure modifications, either permanent or temporary, are required to facilitate effective risk management under the current stress conditions. Modifications may be incorporated into standalone temporary policies or procedures, written exceptions granted at the appropriate level over a period of time, or, incorporated as permanent changes.

Our experience suggests that process changes are most likely to touch on the following areas addressed in policies and procedures:

- Quantitative and qualitative model risk management, including model development, validation, and use⁵⁹
- Development, review and challenge, and use of overlays⁶⁰
- Credit loss provisioning
- Stress testing for both capital and liquidity

Within these areas, key topics will likely include scenario development, development and review of overlays, ongoing monitoring and adjustments of models, and judgmental estimates, as these will likely be core activity areas. These topics may be covered in the model risk management framework or regulatory stress-testing related policies and procedures. Risk sensitive governance requirements as suggested by SR 15-19 ("the intensity of model risk management for overlays should be a function of the materiality of the model and overlay")⁶¹ will likely prove necessary, but not sufficient to produce the efficiency needed to respond to the crisis dynamic.

We think governance requirements in policies and procedures should be reviewed relative to any special process changes needed for a more rapid response, such as teaming model risk or compliance, ensuring for relevant first-line staff (while maintaining a strict separation between first- and second-line responsibilities), or holding and documenting more frequent — even daily — meetings of governance bodies with stakeholders and decision-makers.

Risk management staff should assure compliance with governance framework requirements both by helping to clarify existing minimum requirements and suggesting governance changes that achieve the application of key risk management principles within the current dynamic environment. New or changed policies and procedures should be subject to a governance process that allows for rapid, but well-governed, evolution and two-way communication between document owners and users. Such governance documentation should be kept up to date, with changes communicated quickly to stakeholders.

3.2 Documentation

In addition to serving important internal reporting and tracking functions, we believe some level of documentation of each financial-estimation process will likely prove invaluable when supervisors arrive to examine banks' approaches to grappling with the crisis. Documentation should be developed to address three primary activities:

- Assessments of existing financial risk measures' limitations
- Qualitative approaches to address these limitations
- Development of scenarios relevant for the crisis

In addition, institutions should develop documentation confirming effective review and challenge of the three activities listed above.

Although any analytical process should be documented, staff may find the rapid pace required for crisis response interferes with their ability to produce the documentation level typically expected. This may be exacerbated by the introduction of new or highly modified processes that incorporate far more judgment than is typical, causing confusion regarding acceptable content.

To maintain an orderly and auditable system, documentation of these processes should adhere to the following principles:

- Each analytical process should have some level of documentation
- The breadth and depth of documentation requirements should vary depending on the materiality of the estimate
- Requirements should be standardized as much as possible to encourage consistency
- Processes should incorporate generation of relevant documentation as much as possible to enhance accuracy and efficiency
- Individuals responsible for review and challenge should be documented

Minimum (i.e. for the lowest materiality processes) documentation requirements should include the names of those involved in the process, a description of the process, and its use, in order to place the analytical process within the larger analytical framework. In addition, we suggest a statement of and justifications for the materiality rating (which, after all, justified this lower level of requirements) and copies of files typically generated in such processes, such as testing files and any formulas developed, as their value may be high and the cost of producing them should be low.

For more material processes, more analysis should be required, and justifications more comprehensively spelled out. Potential incremental requirements should include the following:

- Fully developed rationale for the analytical process, including an explanation for the extensive use of judgment, if applicable
- Explanation and justification for significant judgment applied
- Review of any available literature regarding the performance of related processes in past crises
- Rationale for tests conducted and interpretation of any test results
- Recommendations regarding any ongoing monitoring processes
- · Areas addressed by review and challenge and any changes made as a result

3.3 Reporting

In our view, institutions should maintain a strong presentation of how the process has been implemented and used to drive decisions, with regular reporting to key stakeholders, internal and external. While the evidence regarding compliance with financial-estimate assessment and modification and scenario-development governance processes will be generated by the documentation described above, additional reporting should be required to inform and gain approval from business and functional committees, senior management, and the board.

We view it as particularly important that reports developed in this period highlight the reliability of their estimates. While this content is broadly expected by supervisors, such nuance will likely be particularly important during this highly uncertain period, both to improve consumers' understanding of the numbers presented and reassure supervisors that decision-makers understand the reliability of the information they receive.⁶²

For business-line and relevant risk committees, who include those addressing model risk, loss provisioning, stress testing, and credit risk management, reporting should include clear narratives that address the following:

- · Overview of the assessment process
- · Assessment results for relevant models
- · Impact of assessment results (i.e. overlays) on relevant metrics
- Potential implications for business strategy and reporting

Banks should give senior-level executive risk committees higher-level reporting, focused on the scenarios' potential impacts to modeling and modeled results as well as major assumptions made and their impact on financial estimates. In the words of the Federal Reserve, "In general, the purpose and impact of material overlays should be communicated to senior management in a manner that facilitates an understanding of the issues by the bank's senior management."⁶³

Reporting to the board should be designed to inform, with reports produced and distributed at a more frequent cadence than normal due to the dynamic situation. Such reporting should include somewhat greater detail than normal, addressing potential model shortcomings in the crisis, major assumptions made to address those shortcomings, and their impact on results. Reporting should also address the crisis-scenario model-assessment program and significant decisions regarding provisioning, liquidity, and stress testing. Institutions should make the impact of model risk and revised assumptions on these decisions clear.

Reporting to regulators is likely to be particularly critical due both to the current crisis broadly and the nature of the crisis modelassessment process. Reporting should be frequent and transparent and address activities and their motivation. Banks should set

realistic goals with regulators, making only those commitments bank staff are confident they can meet. Based on our experience, timely reporting to regulators is critical, even when reporting bad news.

4. Conclusion

Promontory's view is that the effectiveness of risk management processes will be demonstrated ultimately both through an assessment of risks identified and mitigated, accompanied by evidence that show actions that were based on processes subjected to controls and established governance frameworks. The COVID-19 crisis will require banking organizations to revisit capital and liquidity plans and loan-provisioning estimates under unique conditions.

We know that the current unpredictability of potential outcomes creates challenges in estimating reserves and loan-loss allowances, but banks will be under enormous pressure to justify the assumptions they make, both to their accountants and their regulators. We do not think it is feasible to fix unreliable statistical models in the short term. Instead, firms should take steps to develop qualitative approaches for estimating important risk outcomes.

Banks should therefore rapidly update analytics as they attempt to distinguish between impacts that are temporary liquidity shocks and longer-term economic events. This will challenge organizations' governance, risk, and internal controls systems in a highly stressful and rapidly changing environment.

Notes and Sources

- 1. "Gross Domestic Product, 2nd Quarter 2020 (Advance Estimate) and Annual Update." Bureau of Economic Analysis, 30 July 2020, <u>https://www.bea.gov/news/2020/gross-domestic-product-2nd-quarter-2020-advance-estimate-and-annual-update</u>.
- "Federal and State Regulatory Agencies Issue Examiner Guidance for Assessing Safety and Soundness Considering the Effect of the COVID-19 Pandemic on Financial Institutions." Office of the Comptroller of the Currency, 23 June 2020, www.occ.gov/news-issuances/news-releases/2020/nr-ia-2020-80.html.
- "Federal Reserve Board Releases Results of Stress Tests for 2020 and Additional Sensitivity Analyses Conducted in Light of the Coronavirus Event." Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System, 25 June 2020, <u>www.federalreserve.gov/</u><u>newsevents/pressreleases/bcreg20200625c.htm</u>.
- 4. Promontory calculations are based upon data provided by individual companies in their quarterly 10-Q statements.
- 5. The same institutions continued to increase ACL in the second quarter. Based on the quarterly earnings reports, they jointly reported a \$26.3 billion increase in ACL, which is 3.8 times larger than the group's net income.
- 6. In the second quarter, the increases ranged from 23% to 75%, but this time they reflected a convergence between the banks as Wells Fargo switched from being the bottom (in 2020 Q1) to being the top (in 2020 Q2) contributor to ACL reserves.
- 7. "Interim Report 2020." HSBC Holdings plc, 3 August 2020, <u>https://www.hsbc.com/-/files/hsbc/investors/hsbc-results/2020/</u> interim/pdfs/hsbc-holdings-plc/200803-interim-report-2020.pdf.
- 8. "Results as at 31 March 2020." BNP Paribas, 5 May 2020, https://invest.bnpparibas.com/documents/1q20-pr-23455.
- 9. "Second Quarter 2020 Results." BNP Paribas, 31 July, <u>https://invest.bnpparibas.com/documents/2q20-pr-56325</u>.
- 10. "First Quarter 2020 Results." Credit Agricole, 6 May 2020, <u>https://www.credit-agricole.com/assets/ca-com-front/temp/PDF/</u> CASA 2020-Q1_Slides_UK.pdf.
- 11. "Results for the second quarter and first half of 2020," Credit Agricole, 6 August 2020, <u>https://www.credit-agricole.com/</u> <u>assets/ca-com-front/temp/PDF/EN_CASA_2020-Q2_PR_.pdf</u>.
- 12. "The Origins of Crisis." Brookings Institution, 11 June 2016, https://www.brookings.edu/wp-content/uploads/2016/06/11_origins_crisis_baily_litan.pdf.
- 13. S.3548 116th Congress (2019-2020): CARES Act. Congress.gov, 3 June 2020, <u>www.congress.gov/bill/116th-congress/</u> senate-bill/3548/text?q=product%2Bactualizaci%C3%B3n.
- 14. Abay, Kibrom A., et al. "Winners and Losers from COVID-19." World Bank, 1 June 2020, <u>openknowledge.worldbank.org/</u> <u>handle/10986/33852</u>.
- 15. Toplensky, Rochelle. "Banks Are Only as Sound as Their Models." The Wall Street Journal, 14 May 2020, www.wsj.com/articles/banks-are-only-as-sound-as-their-models-11589449375.
- 16 Tarullo, Daniel. "Stress Testing after Five Years." Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System, 25 June 2014, www.federalreserve.gov/newsevents/speech/tarullo20140625a.htm.
- 17. The regulatory stress-testing performed by the European Banking Authority were not as successful. Economists believe that they used capital hurdle rates that were too low, e.g., Vestergaard, Jakob and Maria Retana. "Behind Smoke and Mirrors." Oct. 2013, <u>https://www.diis.dk/files/media/publications/import/extra/rp2013-10-smoke-and-mirrors_web.jpg.pdf</u>. As a result, many banks that were believed to be well-capitalized required governmental assistance.

- "Guidance on Stress Testing for Banking Organizations with Total Consolidated Assets of More than \$10 Billion, SR Letter 12-7." Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System, 14 May 2012, <u>https://www.federalreserve.gov/supervisionreg/</u> srletters/sr1207a1.pdf.
- 19. The Federal Reserve creates scenarios for the unemployment rate, which is the primary basis for all severely adverse supervisory scenarios, to mimic a severe post-World War II recession in the U.S. "Policy Statement on the Scenario Design Framework for Stress Testing," Federal Reserve System, <u>https://www.federalreserve.gov/bankinforeg/bcreg20121115a4.pdf</u>. More recently, the Federal Reserve proposed to consider current events.
- 20. During an April 2020 webcast, the Federal Reserve's Chair for Supervision Randal Quarles stated that "[t]he right thing for us to do is to continue our stress tests, but as part of them, to analyze how banks' portfolios are responding to real, current events, not just to the hypothetical event that we announced earlier this year." Quarles, Randal, "The Federal Reserve, Macroeconomic Forces, and Your Business," The University of Utah, 10 April 2020, <u>https://eccles.utah.edu/news/federalreserve-randal-guarles-talks-COVID-19-impact-eccles-online-forum/</u>.
- 21. Capital planning and stress capital buffer requirement. 12 CFR § 225.8, <u>www.ecfr.gov/cgi-bin/text-idx?SID=6b8bec4d49b17</u> 7503e55456b878d02ff&node=pt12.3.225&rgn=div5#se12.3.225.
- 22. Prudential Standards for Large Bank Holding Companies, Savings and Loan Holding Companies, and Foreign Banking Organizations. 84 FR 59032, 1 Nov. 2019, <u>https://www.federalregister.gov/documents/2019/11/01/2019-23662/prudential-standards-for-large-bank-holding-companies-savings-and-loan-holding-companies-and-foreign</u>.
- 23. "Stress Testing Principles." The Bank for International Settlements, 17 Oct. 2018, https://www.bis.org/bcbs/publ/d450.htm.
- 24. In the U.S., the MRR is set forth at 12 CFR parts 208 and 225 for state member banks and BHCs, respectively. For more details: "Supervision and Regulation Letters." FRB: Supervisory Letter SR 09-1 on Application of the Market Risk Rule in Bank Holding Companies and State Member Banks." Federal Reserve System, 14 Jan. 2009, <u>www.federalreserve.gov/boarddocs/</u> srletters/2009/SR0901.htm.
- 25. "Basel III Pillar 3 Regulatory Capital Disclosures." Wells Fargo, 31 March 2020, <u>https://www08.wellsfargomedia.com/assets/</u> pdf/about/investor-relations/basel-disclosures/2020-first-quarter-pillar-3-disclosure.pdf.
- 26. "Basel III Pillar 3 Regulatory Capital Disclosures." Wells Fargo, 31 Dec. 2019, <u>https://www08.wellsfargomedia.com/assets/</u> pdf/about/investor-relations/basel-disclosures/2019-fourth-quarter-pillar-3-disclosure.pdf.
- 27. 1Q 2020 Quarterly Report Results. BNP Paribas, 5 May 2020, https://invest.bnpparibas.com/documents/1q20-slides-90973.
- 28. Wilson, Harry, and Donal Griffin. HSBC, BNP Repeatedly Breached Trading Limits in Market Chaos. Bloomberg, 6 May 2020, <u>www.bloomberg.com/news/articles/2020-05-06/hsbc-bnp-repeatedly-breached-trading-limits-in-market-mayhem</u>.
- 29. "Statement on the application of the prudential framework on targeted aspects in the area of market risk in the COVID-19 outbreak." European Banking Authority, 22 April 2020, <a href="https://eba.europa.eu/sites/default/documents/files/document_library/News%20and%20Press/Press%20Room/Press%20Releases/2020/EBA%20Provides%20further%20guidance%20on%20 the%20use%20of%20flexibility%20in%20relation%20to%20COVID-19%20and%20Calls%20for%20heightened%20attent-ion%20to%20risks/882755/EBA%20Statement%20on%20the%20application%20of%20the%20prudential%20framework%20 on%20targeted%20aspects%20in%20the%20area%20of%20market%20risk%20in%20the%20COVID-19.pdf.
- 30. Regulation YY Enhanced Prudential Standards, 12 CFR 252, <u>https://www.ecfr.gov/cgi-bin/text-idx?SID=f31677392cf251bfa</u> <u>34806b492abd8bf&mc=true&tpl=/ecfrbrowse/Title12/12cfr252_main_02.tp</u>.
- 31. "Interagency Policy Statement on Funding and Liquidity Risk Management, SR Letter 10-6." Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System, 17 March 2010, <u>https://www.federalreserve.gov/boarddocs/srletters/2010/sr1006.htm</u>.

- Guidance on Stress Testing for Banking Organizations with Total Consolidated Assets of More than \$10 Billion, SR Letter 12-7." Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System, 14 May 14 2012, https://www.federalreserve.gov/supervisionreg/ srletters/srl207a1.pdf.
 - 33. On April 3, 2020, the prospect of negative oil futures prices prompted the Chicago Mercantile Exchange (CME) to issue the advisory notice inviting market participants to use their updated risk analysis tool. "Testing Opportunities in CME's." CME Group, 15 April 2020, www.cmegroup.com/notices/clearing/2020/04/Chadv20-160.html.
 - 34. On April 20, 2020, the price of the futures contract for West Texas Intermediate scheduled for May delivery traded briefly at -\$37.63 bbl on the CME platform. The Commodity and Futures Trading Commission (CFTC) issued a call to determine the causes of the divergence between the financial and physical markets in order to support an orderly functioning of the market in the future. See: Berkovitz, Dan. "Statement on Recent Trading in the WTI Futures Contract before the Energy and Environmental Markets Advisory Committee Meeting." CFTC, 7 May 2020, <u>www.cftc.gov/PressRoom/SpeechesTestimony/</u> <u>berkovitzstatement050720</u>.
 - 35. We view plausibility assessment as an exercise separate from the identification of scenario severity or relevance, with the latter typically being conditionally estimated given a firm's strategy and risk appetite. Of course, there could be feedback on strategies and risk appetite decisions in light of scenario identification particularly when new, previously unconsidered plausible scenarios emerge but that topic is best discussed separately.
 - 36. "Assessment of Bank Capital during the Recent Coronavirus Event." Federal Reserve, 25 June 2020, <u>https://www.federalreserve.gov/publications/files/2020-sensitivity-analysis-20200625.pdf</u>.
 - 37. "The Employment Situation June 2020." Bureau of Labor Statistics, 2 July 2020, www.bls.gov/news.release/pdf/empsit.pdf.
 - 38. "Federal Reserve Board Releases Results of Stress Tests for 2020 and Additional Sensitivity Analyses Conducted in Light of the Coronavirus Event." Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System, 25 June 2020, <u>www.federalreserve.gov/</u><u>newsevents/pressreleases/bcreg20200625c.htm</u>.
 - 39. See Box 1: "Supervisory and Bank Stress Testing: Range of Practices." The Bank for International Settlements, 20 Dec. 2017, <u>www.bis.org/bcbs/publ/d427.htm</u>.
 - 40. "Dodd-Frank Act Stress Test Publications." Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System, <u>www.federalreserve.gov/</u> <u>publications/dodd-frank-act-stress-test-publications.htm</u>.
 - 41. "Unemployment Rate." FRED, 2 July 2020, fred.stlouisfed.org/series/UNRATE.
 - 42. "Stress Testing Principles," p. 30. The Bank for International Settlements, 17 Oct. 2018, https://www.bis.org/bcbs/publ/d450.htm.
 - 43. "U.S. Business Cycle Expansions and Contractions." National Bureau of Economic Research, https://www.nber.org/cycles.html.
 - 44. "Chronology of Euro Area Business Cycles." EABCN, eabcn.org/dc/chronology-euro-area-business-cycles.
 - Andrew Bailey, "Joint Interim Financial Stability Report and Monetary Policy Report Press Conference." Bank of England, 7 May 2020, <u>https://www.bankofengland.co.uk/-/media/boe/files/monetary-policy-report/2020/may/opening-statement-may-2020.pdf?la=en&hash=A57AB6790F566EAC585588FC741323A38FD2DDD9</u>.
 - Battistini, Niccolò, and Grigor Stoevsky. "Alternative Scenarios for the Impact of the COVID-19 Pandemic on Economic Activity in the Euro Area." European Central Bank, 1 May 2020, <u>www.ecb.europa.eu/pub/economic-bulletin/focus/2020/</u> <u>html/ecb.ebbox202003_01~767f86ae95.en.html</u>.
 - 47. A similar conclusion was reached in the work of Cambridge and Federal Reserve Board economists. See: Bodenstein, Martin, et al. "Social Distancing and Supply Disruptions in a Pandemic." FEDS 2020-031, <u>https://www.federalreserve.gov/econres/feds/files/2020031pap.pdf</u>.

promontory.com

- 48. "IHME: COVID-19 Projections." Institute for Health Metrics and Evaluation, 25 June 2020, <u>COVID19.healthdata.org/united-</u> states-of-america/.
- 49. "Short-Term Forecasts of COVID-19 Deaths in Multiple Countries." Imperial College London, 14 July 2020, mrc-ide.github. io/COVID19-short-term-forecasts/index.html.
- 50. Severe COVID-19 Risk Mapping. Columbia University, <u>https://columbia.maps.arcgis.com/apps/webappviewer/index.</u> <u>html?id=ade6ba85450c4325a12a5b9c09ba796c</u>.
- 51. COVID Analytics, MIT, Operations Research Center, 4 July 2020 https://www.COVIDanalytics.io/projections.
- 52. COVD-19 Forecast Hub. University of Amherst, https://reichlab.io/COVID19-forecast-hub/. (Offers an ensemble model.)
- 53. COVID-19 GLEAM model. https://COVID19.gleamproject.org/#.
- 54. "Supervisory Guidance on Model Risk Management." Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System and Office of the Comptroller of the Currency, 4 April 2011, <u>https://www.occ.treas.gov/news-issuances/bulletins/2011/bulletin-2011-12a.pdf</u>.
- 55. "Stress Testing Principles," p. 4. The Bank for International Settlements, 17 Oct. 2018, https://www.bis.org/bcbs/publ/d450.htm.
- 56 "The Employment Situation June 2020." Bureau of Labor Statistics, 2 July 2020, www.bls.gov/news.release/pdf/empsit.pdf.
- 57. In the context of regulatory stress-testing, the Fed states that, "A firm should establish a consistent firm-wide process for applying model overlays and for controls around model overlays... Model overlays (including those based solely on expert or management judgment) should be subject to validation or some other type of effective challenge." "Federal Reserve Supervisory Assessment of Capital Planning and Positions for Large and Noncomplex Firms (SR 15-19)." Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System, 18 Dec. 2015, <u>https://www.federalreserve.gov/supervisionreg/srletters/sr1519_PW.pdf</u>.
- 58. While the text in the above footnote is not directly applicable to the models currently under discussion, we suggest it be applied consistently with the materiality principle in the Federal Reserve's "Supervisory Guidance on Model Risk Management" (SR 11-7).
- 59. We use the model definition from the guidance, which includes in its model definition, "quantitative approaches whose inputs are partially or wholly qualitative or based on expert judgment, provided that the output is quantitative in nature." See: "Supervisory Guidance on Model Risk Management." Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System and Office of the Comptroller of the Currency, 4 April 2011, <u>https://www.occ.treas.gov/news-issuances/bulletins/2011/bulletin-2011-12a.pdf</u>. In our experience, the range of industry practice regarding qualitative models is quite broad, and our text is intended to be inclusive.
- 60. For purposes of this discussion, we are not distinguishing among model overlays, management overlays, model adjustments and model overrides.
- "Federal Reserve Supervisory Assessment of Capital Planning and Positions for Large and Noncomplex Firms (SR 15-19),"
 p. 20, Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System, 18 Dec. 2015, <u>https://www.federalreserve.gov/supervisionreg/srletters/sr1519.htm</u>.
- "Reports that provide a range of estimates for different input-value scenarios and assumption values can give decision makers important indications of the model's accuracy, robustness, and stability as well as information on model limitations." See:
 "Supervisory Guidance on Model Risk Management," pp-7-8. Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System and Office of the Comptroller of the Currency," 4 April 2011, <u>https://www.occ.treas.gov/news-issuances/bulletins/2011/bulletin-2011-12a.pdf</u>.
- "Federal Reserve Supervisory Assessment of Capital Planning and Positions for Large and Noncomplex Firms (SR 15-19),"
 p. 21, Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System, 18 Dec. 2015, https://www.federalreserve.gov/supervisionreg/srletters/sr1519.htm.

Contact Us

Ronald Cathcart Managing Director rcathcart@promontory.com +1 212 209 7424

William Lang Managing Director wlang@promontory.com +1 212 209 7469

C. Erik Larson Managing Director elarson@promontory.com +1 202 869 9515

Margaret Cheever Director mcheever@promontory.com +1 646 284 5612

Paul Huck Director paulhuck@promontory.com +1 202 869 9637

Aaron Johnson Director ajohnson@promontory.com +1 202 869 9563

Nicholas Kiritz Director nkiritz@promontory.com +1 202 869 9566

Viktor Tsyrennikov Director vtsyrennikov@promontory.com +1 202 370 0552

Katheryn Van der Celen Director kvandercelen@promontory.com +1 212 284 5088

